Dickson

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Union County

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

DEC 10 2013

**S.C. Supreme Court**

TIJUAN PEAKE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001271  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR court err in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not making a motion for Petitioner's prior drug convictions to not be used for impeachment purposes because they were more prejudicial than probative since Petitioner was on trial for a drug offense of distribution and Petitioner would have testified but for the prior convictions being allowed to come in?

## STATEMENT

In March 2008, the Union County Grand Jury indicted Tjuan Peake on the charges of distribution of crack cocaine and distribution of crack cocaine within the proximity of a school. On October 15, 2008, Peake proceeded to trial before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and a jury. Peake was represented by Ross Burton, and the state was represented by John Anthony. App. 1. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on both charges as indicted. Judge Hayes sentenced Peake to twenty years on the distribution of crack cocaine second offense, and fifteen years on the proximity charge to run concurrently. App. 143, ll. 22 – App. 144, ll. 8. Peake's attorney filed a notice of appeal which was perfected by the Division of Appellate Defense of the Commission on Indigent Defense. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Peake's convictions and sentences. State v. Peake, 2011-UP-297 (Ct. App. filed June 14, 2011).

On December 9, 2011, Peake filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). The state filed a return on March 23, 2012. An evidentiary hearing was held on October 9, 2012 before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson. Peake was represented by Carolina Horlbeck, and the state was represented by J. Rutledge Johnson. On April 18, 2013, Judge Dickson issued an order denying Peake's PCR application and dismissing it with prejudice. App. 217 – 229. Peake's attorney filed a notice of appeal. This petition follows.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not making a motion for Petitioner's prior drug convictions to not be used for impeachment purposes because they were more prejudicial than probative since Petitioner was on trial for a drug offense of distribution and Petitioner would have testified but for the prior convictions being allowed to come in.

Kevin Lindsey worked as a confidential informant (CI) for the Union County Public Safety Department Narcotics Team where he would make controlled drug buys from individuals and was compensated with money by The Public Safety Department. On November 9, 2007, Lindsey called Investigator Mickey Parker with the Public Safety Department and asked to make a drug buy that night. He was wired with video and audio equipment and money. App.26 , ll. 8 – App. 29, ll. 25; App. 38, ll. 20 – App. 39, ll. 18.

Lindsey called Tijuán Peake to allegedly purchase crack cocaine from Peake. They agreed to meet at the Dixie Curb Market. After completing the transaction in Peake's car, Lindsey left and met with Investigator Parker and gave the drugs to him. The drugs turned out to be 12 grams of crack. App. 39, ll. 19 – App. 43, ll. 25; App. 71, ll. 1 – 25.

After viewing the video, Investigator Parker recognized Peake because he knew him from his work of several years. He then issued arrest warrants for Peake. App. 31, ll. 1 – App. 32, ll. 25.

Peake proceeded to trial on the two charges on October 15, 2008. At the close of the state's case, and after the judge denied defense counsel's directed verdict motion, the judge told Peake that this was the point where Peake had a right to present a defense if he desired to do so. Judge Hayes told Peake that he could testify if he wanted to. The solicitor read to the judge Peake's prior record which consisted of a 2002 conviction for failure to stop for a blue light; a 2005 conviction for distribution of crack and a conviction for distribution within the proximity of a school; and a second

2005 conviction for distribution of crack and a proximity conviction. The solicitor asked the court that he be allowed to question Peake about his felony convictions that carried more than a year if Peake testified. Defense counsel then said to the court: "I agree with that impeachment, the extent of his record, Your Honor." App. 98, ll. 9 – App.99, ll. 23.

The judge then said to Peake:

Mr. Peake, the state would be able to ask you questions concerning those offenses were you to take the stand. If you choose to remain silent, I would tell the jury that you have exercised your constitutional right to remain silent. They could not use that against you, and that they could not in the jury room discuss or use in their own mind your exercising your right to remain silent against you in anyway. Do you understand that?

Yes, Sir.

App. 99, ll. 24 – App. 100, ll. 9.

Peake then told the judge that he would exercise his right to remain silent. Defense counsel made no objection but asked to have a moment to talk to Peake. App. 100, ll. 10 – 25.

Later, defense counsel told the court that Peake elected to remain silent and not testify. App. 101, ll. 15 – 25.

At his PCR hearing, Peake testified that his trial counsel did not effectively represent him at trial. Peake had wanted to testify, and would have but for the fact that his prior drug convictions would come in before the jury. His attorney failed to object to the state wanting to impeach him with those prior convictions. His attorney failed to ask the court to conduct a balancing and weighing of the probative value of the convictions versus the prejudicial value. Peake argued that the convictions did not relate to the credibility issue. When he asked his attorney, his attorney told him that if he took the stand, the jury would hear that he had prior drug convictions. Peake believed that his taking the stand would have made a difference because he could explain that the CI had a

motive to lie because he and the CI had an altercation a month earlier. App. 164, ll. 1 – App. 166, ll. 20; App. 181, ll. 19 – App. 185, ll. 15.

Peake's trial counsel testified that the video was very "weak", and he had questioned the credibility of the CI. Trial counsel said one of the problems with a defendant testifying was that his prior conviction less than ten years old came into evidence. App. 191, ll. 22 – App. 198, ll. 23.

On cross examination, trial counsel admitted that he did not make any motion to ask the trial court to weigh the prejudice against the probative value of bringing in Peake's prior convictions because he said "it was very clearly set out in the rule." He admitted that it would have been prejudicial for the jury to know that Peake had two prior convictions for selling crack when he was on trial for selling crack. When asked if that would have been a basis for a motion to keep out the prior convictions, he admitted that it would have been a basis. However, he had never known a judge to exclude prior convictions in his twenty years of practicing law. App. 202, ll. 5 – 24.

The PCR judge found trial counsel's testimony to be "very credible", and found Peake's testimony to not be credible. App. 221. The judge ruled that Peake's allegation that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to Peake's prior convictions coming in to be "wholly without merit." In the order, the judge wrote that Peake presented no evidence at his PCR hearing to support how the outcome of his trial would have been different had his priors not come in as Peake made an informed decision to testify. The order provided that Peake could prove no prejudice. App. 226.

In State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 633 S.E.2d 152 (2006), the Supreme Court held that evidence of the defendant's prior convictions for unlawful possession of a weapon by a convicted felon and pointing and presenting a firearm in the defendant's current trial for murder and unlawful possession of a weapon by a convicted felon were inadmissible for impeachment purposes; and the error in admission of these prior convictions was not harmless. The Court wrote that the prior

convictions had nothing to do with the defendant's credibility, and were more prejudicial than probative. The court also wrote that after the trial court conducted the balancing test in determining whether the probative value outweighed the prejudicial effect, the trial court must then decide and articulate on the record why the probative value outweighs the prejudicial effect.

The Court cited State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000) which listed five factors a trial judge should consider in deciding whether to admit prior convictions:

- (1) The impeachment value of the prior crime;
- (2) The point in time of the past crime and the charged crime;
- (3) The similarity of the past crime and the charged crime;
- (4) The importance of the defendant's testimony;
- (5) The centrality of the credibility issue.

The Supreme Court also wrote in State v. Bryant, *supra*, that when the prior offense was similar to the offense for which the defendant is on trial, the danger of unfair prejudice to the defendant from impeachment by that prior offense weighs against its admission.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland v. Washington, *supra*; Butler v. State, *supra*.

A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional