STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

MAR - 6 2014

CERTIORARI TO UNION COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2013-001271

Tijuan Peake.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina.....Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. RUTLEDGE JOHNSON
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar # 78871

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the PCR court properly find Counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the use of Petitioner's prior criminal history for impeachment purposes had Petitioner testified at trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Tijuan Peake, ("Petitioner"), was indicted at the March 2008 term of the Union County Court of General Sessions for Distribution of Crack Cocaine (2008-GS-44-0332) and Distribution of Crack Cocaine within proximity of a school (2008-GS-44-0333). He was represented by Ross Burton, Esq. On October 15, 2008, the Petitioner underwent trial by jury, pursuant to which he was convicted of Distribution of Crack Cocaine, 2nd Offense and the corresponding proximity charge. The Honorable John C. Hayes, III sentenced Petitioner to confinement for twenty (20) years for Distribution of Crack Cocaine, 2nd offense and fifteen (15) years, concurrent, for the proximity charge.

A Notice of Appeal was filed on the Petitioner's behalf and an appeal perfected. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction. State v. Peake, 2011-UP-297 (filed June 14, 2011). The Remittitur was issued on July 1, 2011.

Petitioner subsequently filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on December 9, 2011. Petitioner claimed, *inter alia*, ineffective assistance of trial counsel for "failure to object to the trial judge's erroneous instruction to the Petitioner that his prior drug convictions could be used to impeach him if he exercised his right to testify in his defense." Respondent made its Return on March 23, 2012. On October 9, 2012, an evidentiary hearing was held at the Moss Justice Center in York, SC. Petitioner was present and represented by Caroline Horlbeck, Esquire. Respondent was represented by J. Rutledge Johnson of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. On April 18, 2013, the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson denied and dismissed Petitioner's application with prejudice by written Order. Petitioner subsequently filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for reviewing a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a PCR proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court properly found Counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to the use of Petitioner's prior criminal history for impeachment purposes had Petitioner testified at trial.

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred "in failing to find trial counsel ineffective for not making a motion for Petitioner's prior drug convictions to not be used for impeachment purposes because they were more prejudicial than probative since Petitioner was on trial for drug offense of distribution and Petitioner would have testified but for the prior convictions being allowed to come in." This argument is without merit.

At trial, the following colloquy occurred:

The Court: All right. We have reached the point in the trial where you have a right to present a defense, if you wish. You are not required to present a defense, because you are presumed innocent. However, you can call witnesses, if you wish, or you can testify, if you wish. If you testify, the State would be able to cross-examine you, that is, ask questions about what happened that evening. Does [Petitioner] have any prior record?

Mr. Anthony: Yes, sir.

The Court: What kind of impeachment?

Mr. Anthony: He has a 2002 conviction for failure to stop for a blue light. And he has a 2005 conviction for distribution of crack, distribution of crack within proximity of a school. Then he has a second 2005 conviction for distribution of crack and distribution of crack within proximity of a school. Were he to testify, I would ask the court to allow me to ask if he's been convicted of a felony that carries more than a year in regard to the drug convictions.

Mr. Burton: I agree with the impeachment, the extent of his record, Your Honor.

The Court: Mr. Peake, the State would be able to ask you questions concerning those offenses, were you to take the stand. If you choose to remain silent, I would tell the jury that you have exercised your Constitutional Right to remain silent. They could not use that against you. They could not hold that against you in any way whatsoever and that they could not in the jury room discuss or use in their own mind your exercising your right to remain silent against you in any way. Do you understand that?

[Petitioner]: Yes, sir.

The Court: Do you have any question about it?

[Petitioner]: No, sir.

The Court: What?

[Petitioner]: No, sir.

The Court: So do you plan to testify or exercise your right to remain silent?

[Petitioner]: Exercise my right to remain silent.

(App. p. 99 line 1- p. 100 line 17).

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified while Counsel discussed the State's use of his prior conviction for impeachment purposes, Counsel did not request a hearing on a SCRE 403 analysis. Petitioner also testified had he known that the State could only ask whether he had been convicted of a felony and not the details thereof, he would have taken the stand in his own defense.

Mr. Burton (Counsel) testified he advised Petitioner that the right to remain silent or right to testify is a very important decision for Petitioner to make. Counsel also testified one advantage of Petitioner testifying is to get Petitioner's side of the story to the jury; however, one of the dangers with a defendant like Petitioner, is that the jury would learn of his prior convictions, as they were committed within the last ten years. (App. p. 198). Counsel further stated it was Petitioner's decision not to testify. (App. p. 199). On cross-examination, Counsel readily admitted that if the jury knew Petitioner had two prior convictions for distribution of crack cocaine, it would be "fantastically prejudicial" to Petitioner's case. (App. p. 202). Yet, Petitioner chose not to testify so the jury never learned of his prior convictions.

In its Order of Dismissal, the PCR court held:

[Petitioner] was questioned by the trial court whether he understood the State could ask questions about his prior convictions if he testified, to which he replied he did. He also stated he understood his right to remain silent. (citations omitted). [Petitioner] also stated he wanted to exercise his right to remain silent. (Citations omitted). The record demonstrates [Petitioner] decided not to testify understanding the consequences of his choice and directly refutes his claims.

(App. p. 226).

Additionally, the PCR Court found Counsel very credible while finding Petitioner not credible. (App. p. 221). See Simuel v. State, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010) (“This Court gives great deference to a PCR judge's findings where matters of credibility are involved.”).

In a PCR action, Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler, *supra*.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, *Id.* Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of plea counsel. First, the Petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness

under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, *citing Strickland*. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

"The decision to testify or not is a perilous one. If a defendant does not testify, he foregoes the opportunity to tell the jury his version of events. On the other hand, if a defendant chooses to testify, he subjects himself to cross-examination, including possible impeachment with prior convictions. Rule 609, SCRE." Brown v. State, 340 S.C. 590, 594, 533 S.E.2d 308, 310 (2000).

Here, prior to Petitioner informing the trial court that he chose not to testify, the solicitor requested that he be allowed to simply ask Petitioner whether he has prior felony convictions if Petitioner were to testify. Solicitor never requested to ask about the details of the convictions. Further, Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that because these convictions were well within the ten-year limitation pursuant to SCRE Rule 609(b), he did not object because, in his opinion and experience, this type of questioning would be permissible.

Additionally, Petitioner testified at the trial that he fully understood his right to remain silent or testify. Petitioner did not have any questions concerning his right to testify. Petitioner also never explained to the trial court his lack of understanding as to the use of his prior convictions. It was not until his PCR hearing, that he claimed he was under the impression the State could inquire about the details of the convictions. He also claimed that but for Counsel's lack of explanation of the State's use of his prior convictions, he would have taken the stand in his own defense. Interestingly, the PCR Court found this self-serving testimony not credible.

Petitioner relies on State v. Bryant, 369 S.C. 511, 633 S.E.2d 152 (2006) for the proposition that the trial court must conduct a hearing to determine whether prior convictions are admissible for impeachment purposes and whether those convictions bear on a defendant's credibility. Petitioner also cited State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000) for the five-factor test a trial court should use in deciding whether to admit prior convictions. Both of these cases concerned remote convictions under Rule 609(b) and whether they could be admitted for impeachment purposes. In the case at bar, Petitioner's convictions were within two years of the charges for which he was convicted in this case. Because Petitioner's prior convictions fall squarely under Rule 609(b), the test for admissibility of remote convictions is inapplicable. Second, both of these cases turned on the fact that the defendants testified and had their testimony impeached with their prior convictions. Bryant's case hinged on his credibility as his defense was a self-defense and his testimony was crucial to his defense. Colf was allowed to be impeached with his prior convictions when he testified in his own defense. In this case, Petitioner made a conscience and fully informed decision to exercise his 5th Amendment right against self-incrimination and not take the stand at his trial. He was not impeached with his prior convictions as he never testified and was subject to cross-examination. As such, Bryant and Colf are inapplicable. Thus, Petitioner's claim that Counsel was ineffective for not requesting a hearing under the aforementioned cases fails.

Nonetheless, even if Counsel was ineffective for failing to request the trial judge perform a SCRE Rule 403 analysis, Petitioner has failed to show resulting prejudice. Specifically, Petitioner failed to present testimony at the PCR hearing that shows how his testimony at trial would have changed the outcome of his trial pursuant to Cherry, *supra*. Petitioner also failed to present the testimony he would have given at his trial had he fully understood the way in which

the State could have used his prior convictions for impeachment. Petitioner only claimed he would have testified at trial, yet never explicitly stated what his testimony would have been. Therefore, the PCR Court correctly held “[Petitioner] has presented no evidence to support how the outcome of his trial would have been different had Counsel moved for a hearing concerning his prior convictions.”

Accordingly, there is clear “evidence of probative value” to sustain the PCR judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

Therefore, Petitioner has failed to meet her burden of proof as to this argument.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.